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Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or
for such shorter period that the registrant was
required to file such reports), and (2) has been
subject to such filing requirements for the past
90 days.

Yes[x] No[  ]

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant
has submitted electronically and posted on its
corporate website, if any, every Interactive Data
File required to be submitted and posted
pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T
(§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding
12 months (or for such shorter period that the
registrant was required to submit and post such
files).

Yes[x] No[  ]

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is
a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a
non-accelerated filer, smaller reporting
company, or an emerging growth company.  See
the definitions of “large accelerated filer,”
“accelerated filer,” “smaller reporting company,” and
"emerging growth company" in Rule 12b-2 of
the Exchange Act.

Large
accelerated
filer 
[x]

Accelerated
filer    [ ]

Non-accelerated
filer   [  ]

Smaller
reporting
company  [ ]

Emerging growth company [ ]

If an emerging growth company, indicate by
check mark if the registrant has elected not to
use the extended transition period for complying
with any new or revised financial accounting
standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of
the Exchange Act. [ ]

Indicate by check mark whether
the registrant is a shell company
(as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the
Exchange Act).

Yes[  ] No[x]

APPLICABLE ONLY TO CORPORATE
ISSUERS

Indicate the number of shares outstanding of
each of the issuer’s classes of common stock, as
of the latest practicable date.
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Title of
class: As of July 31, 2017

Common
Stock,
$.01 par
value
per share

33,180,402 shares

Non-voting
Common
Stock, $.01
par value per
share

100,029 shares

1

Edgar Filing: BANNER CORP - Form 10-Q

3



BANNER CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

Table of Contents
PART I – FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1 – Financial Statements.  The Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements of Banner Corporation
and Subsidiaries filed as a part of the report are as follows:

Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition as of June 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016 4

Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Three and Six Months Ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 5

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the Three and Six Months Ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 6

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity for the Six Months Ended June 30, 2017 and the Year
Ended December 31, 2016 7

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Six Months Ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 8

Selected Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 10

Item 2 – Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Executive Overview 42

Comparison of Financial Condition at June 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016 47

Comparison of Results of Operations for the Three and Six Months Ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 50

Asset Quality 57

Liquidity and Capital Resources 59

Capital Requirements 60

Item 3 – Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Market Risk and Asset/Liability Management 61

Sensitivity Analysis 61

Item 4 – Controls and Procedures 66

PART II – OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1 – Legal Proceedings 67

Item 1A – Risk Factors 67

Item 2 – Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds 67

Edgar Filing: BANNER CORP - Form 10-Q

4



Item 3 – Defaults upon Senior Securities 67

Item 4 – Mine Safety Disclosures 67

Item 5 – Other Information 67

Item 6 – Exhibits 68

SIGNATURES 70

2

Edgar Filing: BANNER CORP - Form 10-Q

5



Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

Certain matters in this Form 10-Q constitute forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities
Litigation Reform Act of 1995.  These statements relate to our financial condition, liquidity, results of operations,
plans, objectives, future performance or business.  Forward-looking statements are not statements of historical fact,
are based on certain assumptions and are generally identified by use of the words “believes,” “expects,” “anticipates,”
“estimates,” “forecasts,” “intends,” “plans,” “targets,” “potentially,” “probably,” “projects,” “outlook” or similar expressions or future or
conditional verbs such as “may,” “will,” “should,” “would” and “could.”  Forward-looking statements include statements with
respect to our beliefs, plans, objectives, goals, expectations, assumptions and statements about future economic
performance and projections of financial items.  These forward-looking statements are subject to known and unknown
risks, uncertainties and other factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from the results anticipated or
implied by our forward-looking statements, including, but not limited to: the credit risks of lending activities,
including changes in the level and trend of loan delinquencies and write-offs and changes in our allowance for loan
losses and provision for loan losses that may be impacted by deterioration in the housing and commercial real estate
markets and may lead to increased losses and non-performing assets, and may result in our allowance for loan losses
not being adequate to cover actual losses and require us to materially increase our reserves; changes in economic
conditions in general and in Washington, Idaho, Oregon, Utah and California in particular; changes in the levels of
general interest rates and the relative differences between short and long-term interest rates, loan and deposit interest
rates, our net interest margin and funding sources; fluctuations in the demand for loans, the number of unsold homes,
land and other properties and fluctuations in real estate values in our market areas; secondary market conditions for
loans and our ability to sell loans in the secondary market; results of safety and soundness and compliance
examinations of us by the Federal Reserve and of our bank subsidiaries by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation
(the FDIC), the Washington State Department of Financial Institutions, Division of Banks (the Washington DFI) or
other regulatory authorities, including the possibility that any such regulatory authority may, among other things,
require restitution or institute an informal or formal enforcement action against us or any of our bank subsidiaries
which could require us to increase our reserve for loan losses, write-down assets, change our regulatory capital
position or affect our ability to borrow funds, or maintain or increase deposits, or impose additional requirements and
restrictions on us, any of which could adversely affect our liquidity and earnings; legislative or regulatory changes that
adversely affect our business including changes in regulatory policies and principles, or the interpretation of
regulatory capital or other rules, including changes related to Basel III; the impact of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street
Reform and Consumer Protection Act and the implementing regulations; our ability to attract and retain deposits;
increases in premiums for deposit insurance; our ability to control operating costs and expenses; the use of estimates
in determining fair value of certain of our assets and liabilities, which estimates may prove to be incorrect and result in
significant changes in valuation; difficulties in reducing risk associated with the loans and securities on our balance
sheet; staffing fluctuations in response to product demand or the implementation of corporate strategies that affect our
work force and potential associated charges; the failure or security breach of computer systems on which we depend;
our ability to retain key members of our senior management team; costs and effects of litigation, including settlements
and judgments; our ability to implement our business strategies; our ability to successfully integrate any assets,
liabilities, customers, systems, and personnel we may acquire into our operations and our ability to realize related
revenue synergies and cost savings within expected time frames or at all, and any goodwill charges related thereto and
costs or difficulties relating to integration matters, including but not limited to customer and employee retention,
which might be greater than expected; future goodwill impairment due to changes in our business, changes in market
conditions, or other factors; our ability to manage loan delinquency rates; increased competitive pressures among
financial services companies; changes in consumer spending, borrowing and savings habits; the availability of
resources to address changes in laws, rules, or regulations or to respond to regulatory actions; our ability to pay
dividends on our common stock and non-voting common stock, and interest or principal payments on our junior
subordinated debentures; adverse changes in the securities markets; inability of key third-party providers to perform
their obligations to us; changes in accounting policies and practices, as may be adopted by the financial institution
regulatory agencies or the Financial Accounting Standards Board including additional guidance and interpretation on
accounting issues and details of the implementation of new accounting methods; the economic impact of war or any
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terrorist activities; other economic, competitive, governmental, regulatory, and technological factors affecting our
operations, pricing, products and services; and other risks detailed from time to time in our filings with the U.S.
Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC), including this report on Form 10-Q.  Any forward-looking statements
are based upon management’s beliefs and assumptions at the time they are made.  We do not undertake and
specifically disclaim any obligation to update any forward-looking statements included in this report or the reasons
why actual results could differ from those contained in such statements, whether as a result of new information, future
events or otherwise.  These risks could cause our actual results to differ materially from those expressed in any
forward-looking statements by, or on behalf of, us.  In light of these risks, uncertainties and assumptions, the
forward-looking statements discussed in this report might not occur, and you should not put undue reliance on any
forward-looking statements.

As used throughout this report, the terms “we,” “our,” “us,” or the “Company” refer to Banner Corporation and its consolidated
subsidiaries, unless the context otherwise requires.  All references to “Banner” refer to Banner Corporation and those to
“the Banks” refer to its wholly-owned subsidiaries, Banner Bank and Islanders Bank, collectively.
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BANNER CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION
(Unaudited) (In thousands, except shares)
June 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016 

ASSETS June 30
2017

December 31
2016

Cash and due from banks $196,178 $177,083
Interest bearing deposits 77,370 70,636
Total cash and cash equivalents 273,548 247,719
Securities—trading, amortized cost $30,221 and $30,154, respectively 24,950 24,568
Securities—available-for-sale, amortized cost $1,290,189 and $806,336, respectively 1,290,159 800,917
Securities—held-to-maturity, fair value $272,089 and $270,528, respectively 268,050 267,873
Federal Home Loan Bank (FHLB) stock 12,334 12,506
Loans held for sale (includes $57,832 and $9,600, at fair value, respectively) 66,164 246,353
Loans receivable 7,551,563 7,451,148
Allowance for loan losses (88,586 ) (85,997 )
Net loans 7,462,977 7,365,151
Accrued interest receivable 30,722 30,178
Real estate owned (REO), held for sale, net 2,427 11,081
Property and equipment, net 161,095 166,481
Goodwill 244,583 244,583
Other intangibles, net 26,813 30,162
Bank-owned life insurance (BOLI) 160,609 158,936
Deferred tax assets, net 121,131 127,694
Other assets 54,258 59,466
Total assets $10,199,820 $9,793,668
LIABILITIES
Deposits:
Non-interest-bearing $3,254,581 $3,140,451
Interest-bearing transaction and savings accounts 4,022,909 3,935,630
Interest-bearing certificates 1,206,241 1,045,333
Total deposits 8,483,731 8,121,414
Advances from FHLB at fair value 50,212 54,216
Other borrowings 116,455 105,685
Junior subordinated debentures at fair value (issued in connection with Trust Preferred
Securities) 96,852 95,200

Accrued expenses and other liabilities 102,511 71,369
Deferred compensation 40,208 40,074
Total liabilities 8,889,969 8,487,958
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Note 12)
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Preferred stock - $0.01 par value per share, 500,000 shares authorized; no shares
outstanding at June 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016 — —

Common stock and paid in capital - $0.01 par value per share, 50,000,000 shares
authorized; 33,178,914 shares issued and outstanding at June 30, 2017; 33,108,599 shares
issued and outstanding at December 31, 2016

1,214,578 1,213,225

Common stock (non-voting) and paid in capital- $0.01 par value per share, 5,000,000
shares authorized; 99,117 shares issued and outstanding at June 30, 2017; 84,788 shares
issued and outstanding at December 31, 2016

738 612

Retained earnings 94,541 95,328
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Carrying value of shares held in trust for stock related compensation plans (7,283 ) (7,283 )
Liability for common stock issued to deferred, stock related, compensation plans 7,283 7,283
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (6 ) (3,455 )
Total shareholders' equity 1,309,851 1,305,710
Total liabilities & shareholders' equity $10,199,820 $9,793,668
See Selected Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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BANNER CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(Unaudited) (In thousands, except shares and per share amounts)
For the Three and Six Months Ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 

Three Months Ended
June 30,

Six Months Ended
June 30,

2017 2016 2017 2016
INTEREST INCOME:
Loans receivable $94,795 $ 88,935 $186,083 $175,893
Mortgage-backed securities 6,239 5,274 10,886 10,664
Securities and cash equivalents 3,402 3,112 6,563 6,065
Total interest income 104,436 97,321 203,532 192,622
INTEREST EXPENSE:
Deposits 3,182 2,771 5,973 5,717
FHLB advances 301 339 574 618
Other borrowings 83 78 157 153
Junior subordinated debentures 1,164 985 2,268 1,944
Total interest expense 4,730 4,173 8,972 8,432
Net interest income 99,706 93,148 194,560 184,190
PROVISION FOR LOAN LOSSES 2,000 2,000 4,000 2,000
Net interest income after provision for loan losses 97,706 91,148 190,560 182,190
NON-INTEREST INCOME:
Deposit fees and other service charges 13,238 12,213 25,423 24,031
Mortgage banking operations 6,754 6,625 11,357 12,268
Bank-owned life insurance (BOLI) 1,461 1,128 2,556 2,313
Miscellaneous 1,720 1,328 5,356 2,592

23,173 21,294 44,692 41,204
Net loss on sale of securities (54 ) (380 ) (41 ) (359 )
Net change in valuation of financial instruments carried at fair value (650 ) (377 ) (1,338 ) (348 )
Total non-interest income 22,469 20,537 43,313 40,497
NON-INTEREST EXPENSE:
Salary and employee benefits 49,019 45,175 95,083 91,738
Less capitalized loan origination costs (4,598 ) (4,907 ) (8,914 ) (9,157 )
Occupancy and equipment 12,045 11,052 24,041 21,440
Information/computer data services 4,100 4,852 8,094 9,772
Payment and card processing expenses 5,792 5,501 10,812 10,286
Professional services 3,732 865 8,885 3,479
Advertising and marketing 1,766 2,474 3,095 4,207
Deposit insurance 1,071 1,311 2,337 2,649
State/municipal business and use taxes 279 770 1,078 1,608
REO operations (363 ) 137 (1,329 ) 534
Amortization of core deposit intangibles 1,624 1,808 3,248 3,615
Miscellaneous 7,463 8,437 13,577 14,526

81,930 77,475 160,007 154,697
Acquisition-related costs — 2,412 — 9,224
Total non-interest expense 81,930 79,887 160,007 163,921
Income before provision for income taxes 38,245 31,798 73,866 58,766
PROVISION FOR INCOME TAXES 12,791 10,841 24,619 20,035
NET INCOME $25,454 $ 20,957 $49,247 $38,731
Earnings per common share:
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Basic $0.77 $ 0.62 $1.49 $1.14
Diluted $0.77 $ 0.61 $1.49 $1.14
Cumulative dividends declared per common share $1.25 $ 0.21 $1.50 $0.42
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding:
Basic 32,982,12634,069,234 32,957,920 34,053,105
Diluted 33,051,52734,116,498 33,052,205 34,090,647
See Selected Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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BANNER CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(Unaudited) (In thousands)
For the Three and Six Months Ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 

Three Months
Ended
June 30,

Six Months Ended
June 30,

2017 2016 2017 2016
NET INCOME $25,454 $20,957 $49,247 $38,731
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME, NET OF INCOME TAXES:
Unrealized holding gain on available-for-sale securities arising during the
period 2,900 5,230 5,348 18,702

Income tax expense related to available-for-sale securities unrealized holding
gain (1,045 ) (1,883 ) (1,925 ) (6,737 )

Reclassification for net losses on available-for-sale securities realized in
earnings 54 380 41 359

Income tax benefit related to available-for-sale securities realized gains (19 ) (137 ) (15 ) (129 )
Other comprehensive income 1,890 3,590 3,449 12,195
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME $27,344 $24,547 $52,696 $50,926

See Selected Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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BANNER CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(Unaudited) (In thousands, except shares)
For the Six Months Ended June 30, 2017 and the Year Ended December 31, 2016

Common Stock
and Paid in Capital Retained

Earnings

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Loss

Shareholders’
EquityShares Amount

Balance, January 1, 2016 34,242,255 $1,261,174 $39,615 $ (730 ) $1,300,059
Net income 85,385 85,385
Other comprehensive loss, net of income tax (2,725 ) (2,725 )
Accrual of dividends on common stock ($0.88/share
cumulative) (29,672 ) (29,672 )

Repurchase of common stock under the terms of the
repurchase plan (1,145,250 ) (50,772 ) (50,772 )

Amortization of stock-based compensation related
to restricted stock grants, net of shares surrendered 96,382 3,401 3,401

Excess tax benefit on stock-based compensation 34 34
Balance, December 31, 2016 33,193,387 $1,213,837 $95,328 $ (3,455 ) $1,305,710

Balance, January 1, 2017 33,193,387 $1,213,837 $95,328 $(3,455) $1,305,710
Net income 49,247 49,247
Other comprehensive income, net of income tax 3,449 3,449
Accrual of dividends on common stock ($1.50/share
cumulative) (50,034 ) (50,034 )

Amortization of stock-based compensation related to
restricted stock grants, net of shares surrendered 84,644 1,479 1,479

Balance, June 30, 2017 33,278,031 $1,215,316 $94,541 $(6 ) $1,309,851

See Selected Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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BANNER CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Unaudited) (In thousands)
For the Six Months Ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 

Six Months Ended
June 30,
2017 2016

OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net income $49,247 $38,731
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided from operating activities:
Depreciation 6,484 6,049
Deferred income and expense, net of amortization (1,401 ) 415
Amortization of core deposit intangibles 3,248 3,615
Loss on sale of securities 41 359
Net change in valuation of financial instruments carried at fair value 1,338 348
Purchases of securities—trading — (1,725 )
Principal repayments and maturities of securities—trading 17 2,252
Decrease in deferred taxes 6,564 11,759
Increase in current taxes payable 2,407 3,755
Equity-based compensation 1,479 1,910
Increase in cash surrender value of BOLI (2,012 ) (2,296 )
Gain on sale of loans, net of capitalized servicing rights (10,975 ) (8,501 )
Gain on disposal of real estate held for sale and property and equipment (2,226 ) (440 )
Provision for loan losses 4,000 2,000
Provision for losses on real estate held for sale 256 636
Origination of loans held for sale (394,585 ) (464,777 )
Proceeds from sales of loans held for sale 585,749 406,251
Net change in:
Other assets (4,863 ) (20,367 )
Other liabilities (3,338 ) 7,362
Net cash provided from (used by) operating activities 241,430 (12,664 )
INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Purchases of securities—available-for-sale (580,321 ) (215,497 )
Principal repayments and maturities of securities—available-for-sale 80,149 90,177
Proceeds from sales of securities—available-for-sale 15,647 96,785
Purchases of securities—held-to-maturity (4,605 ) (38,580 )
Principal repayments and maturities of securities—held-to-maturity 3,317 3,551
Loan originations, net of principal repayments 73,630 (16,219 )
Purchases of loans and participating interest in loans (173,011 ) (149,214 )
Proceeds from sales of other loans 6,447 162,405
Purchases of property and equipment (5,356 ) (6,096 )
Proceeds from sale of real estate held for sale and sale of other property, net 14,912 6,322
Proceeds from FHLB stock repurchase program 53,156 37,396
Purchase of FHLB stock (52,984 ) (44,685 )
Other 298 1,319
Net cash used by investing activities (568,721 ) (72,336 )
FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Increase (decrease) in deposits, net 362,317 (135,293 )
Repayment of long term FHLB advances (4 ) (70,004 )
(Repayments of) proceeds from overnight and short term FHLB advances, net (4,000 ) 262,400
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Increase in other borrowings, net 10,770 13,983
Cash dividends paid (15,963 ) (13,347 )
Net cash provided from financing activities 353,120 57,739
NET CHANGE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 25,829 (27,261 )
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF PERIOD 247,719 261,917
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF PERIOD $273,548 $234,656

(Continued on next page)
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BANNER CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (continued)
(Unaudited) (In thousands)
For the Six Months Ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 

Six Months
Ended
June 30,
2017 2016

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION:
Interest paid in cash $8,464 $8,569
Taxes paid, net of refunds received in cash 17,106 11,025
NON-CASH INVESTING AND FINANCING TRANSACTIONS:
Loans, net of discounts, specific loss allowances and unearned income,
transferred to real estate owned and other repossessed assets 10 592

    Dividends accrued but not paid until after period end 41,733 7,303

See Selected Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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BANNER CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
SELECTED NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1:  BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Banner
Corporation (the Company or Banner), a bank holding company incorporated in the State of Washington and its
wholly-owned subsidiaries, Banner Bank and Islanders Bank (the Banks).

These unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States (GAAP) for interim financial information and in accordance with
the instructions to Form 10-Q and Article 10 of Regulation S-X as promulgated by the Securities and Exchange
Commission (SEC). In preparing these financial statements, the Company has evaluated events and transactions
subsequent to June 30, 2017 for potential recognition or disclosure. In the opinion of management, all adjustments
(consisting of normal recurring accruals) considered necessary for a fair presentation of the financial position and
results of operations for the periods presented have been included. Certain information and disclosures normally
included in annual financial statements prepared in accordance with GAAP have been condensed or omitted pursuant
to the rules and regulations of the SEC and the accounting standards for interim financial statements. Certain
reclassifications have been made to the 2016 Consolidated Financial Statements and/or schedules to conform to the
2017 presentation. These reclassifications may have affected certain ratios for the prior periods. The effect of these
reclassifications is considered immaterial. All significant intercompany transactions and balances have been
eliminated.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect amounts reported in the financial statements. Various elements of the Company’s accounting
policies, by their nature, are inherently subject to estimation techniques, valuation assumptions and other subjective
assessments. In particular, management has identified several accounting policies that, due to the judgments, estimates
and assumptions inherent in those policies, are significant to an understanding of Banner’s financial statements. These
policies relate to (i) the methodology for the recognition of interest income, (ii) determination of the provision and
allowance for loan losses, (iii) the valuation of financial assets and liabilities recorded at fair value, including
other-than-temporary impairment (OTTI) losses, (iv) the valuation of intangibles, such as goodwill, core deposit
intangibles (CDI) and mortgage servicing rights, (v) the valuation of real estate held for sale, (vi) the valuation of
assets and liabilities acquired in business combinations and subsequent recognition of related income and expense,
and (vii) the valuation or recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities. These policies and judgments, estimates and
assumptions are described in greater detail in subsequent notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements and
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (Critical Accounting
Policies) in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2016 filed with the SEC.  There have
been no significant changes in our application of accounting policies during the first six months of 2017.

The information included in this Form 10-Q should be read in conjunction with our Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the year ended December 31, 2016 as filed with the SEC (2016 Form 10-K).  Interim results are not necessarily
indicative of results for a full year or any other interim period.

Note 2:  ACCOUNTING STANDARDS RECENTLY ISSUED OR ADOPTED

Revenue from Contracts with Customers

In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Accounting Standards Update (ASU) No.
2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, which creates Topic 606 and supersedes Topic 605, Revenue
Recognition. The core principle of Topic 606 is that an entity recognizes revenue to depict the transfer of promised
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goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in
exchange for those goods or services. In general, the new guidance requires companies to use more judgment and
make more estimates than under current guidance, including identifying performance obligations in the contract,
estimating the amount of variable consideration to include in the transaction price and allocating the transaction price
to each separate performance obligation. Under the terms of ASU 2015-14 the standard is effective for interim and
annual periods beginning after December 15, 2017. For financial reporting purposes, the standard allows for either full
retrospective adoption, meaning the standard is applied to all of the periods presented, or modified retrospective
adoption, meaning the standard is applied only to the most current period presented in the financial statements with
the cumulative effect of initially applying the standard recognized at the date of initial application. Management
intends to adopt the new guidance on January 1, 2018.  Management is in the process of completing the following
analysis that includes (1) identification of all revenue streams included in the financial statements (excluding interest
income, which is outside of the scope of the pronouncement); (2) identify revenue streams within the scope of the
pronouncement; (3) determination of size, timing, and amount of revenue recognition for streams of income within the
scope of the pronouncement; (4) determination of the sample size of contracts for further analysis; and (5) completion
of analysis on sample of contracts to evaluate the impact of the new guidance. Based on this analysis the Company is
developing processes and procedures during 2017 to address the requirements of this ASU.

In April 2016, FASB issued ASU No. 2016-10, Identifying Performance Obligations and Licensing. The amendments
in this ASU do not change the core principle of the guidance in Topic 606. Rather, the amendments in this ASU
clarify the following two aspects of Topic 606: identifying performance obligations and the licensing implementation
guidance, while retaining the related principles for those areas. The amendments in this ASU affect the guidance in
ASU 2014-09, discussed above, which is not yet effective. The effective date and transition requirements for the
amendments in this ASU are the same as the effective date and transition requirements in Topic 606 (Revenues from
Contracts with Customers). The Company is evaluating the provisions of this ASU in conjunction with ASU No.
2014-09 to determine the potential impact Topic 606 and its amendments will have on the Company’s Consolidated
Financial Statements.
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In May 2016, FASB issued ASU No. 2016-12, Narrow-Scope Improvements and Practical Expedients, amending
ASC Topic 606 (Revenue from Contracts with Customers). The amendments in this ASU do not change the core
principle of the guidance in Topic 606. Rather, the amendments in this ASU affect only several narrow aspects of
Topic 606. The amendments in this ASU affect the guidance in ASU 2014-09, discussed above, which is not yet
effective. The effective date and transition requirements for the amendments in this ASU are the same as the effective
date and transition requirements in Topic 606 (Revenues from Contracts with Customers). The Company is evaluating
the provisions of this ASU in conjunction with ASU No. 2014-09 to determine the potential impact Topic 606 and its
amendments will have on the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements.

Recognition and Measurement of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

In January 2016, FASB issued ASU No. 2016-01, Recognition and Measurement of Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities. The amendments in this ASU require equity securities to be measured at fair value with changes in the fair
value recognized through net income. The amendments allow equity investments that do not have readily
determinable fair values to be remeasured at fair value under certain circumstances and require enhanced disclosures
about those investments. This ASU simplifies the impairment assessment of equity investments without readily
determinable fair values. This ASU also eliminates the requirement to disclose the method(s) and significant
assumptions used to estimate the fair value that is required to be disclosed for financial instruments measured at
amortized cost on the balance sheet. The amendments in this ASU require separate presentation in other
comprehensive income of the portion of the total change in the fair value of a liability resulting from a change in the
instrument-specific credit risk when the entity has elected to measure the liability at fair value in accordance with the
fair value option for financial instruments. This ASU excludes from net income gains or losses that the entity may not
realize because those financial liabilities are not usually transferred or settled at their fair values before maturity. The
amendments in this ASU require separate presentation of financial assets and financial liabilities by measurement
category and form of financial asset (that is, securities or loans and receivables) on the balance sheet or in the
accompanying notes to the financial statements. The amendments in this ASU are effective for fiscal years beginning
after December 15, 2017, including interim periods within those fiscal years. At June 30, 2017, Banner held $5.5
million of available-for-sale equity investment securities. The provisions of ASU No. 2016-01 require changes in the
value of equity securities to be recognized in the income statement which could result in additional volatility in
income.

Leases (Topic 842)

In February 2016, FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842). The amendments in this ASU require lessees
to recognize the following for all leases (with the exception of short-term) at the commencement date; a lease liability,
which is a lessee‘s obligation to make lease payments arising from a lease, measured on a discounted basis; and a
right-of-use asset, which is an asset that represents the lessee’s right to use, or control the use of, a specified asset for
the lease term. The amendments in this ASU leave lessor accounting largely unchanged, although certain targeted
improvements were made to align lessor accounting with the lessee accounting model. This ASU simplifies the
accounting for sale and leaseback transactions primarily because lessees must recognize lease assets and lease
liabilities. Lessees will no longer be provided with a source of off-balance sheet financing. The amendments in this
ASU are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018, including interim periods within those fiscal
years. Early application is permitted upon issuance. Lessees (for capital and operating leases) and lessors (for
sales-type, direct financing, and operating leases) must apply a modified retrospective transition approach for leases
existing at, or entered into after, the beginning of the earliest comparative period presented in the financial statements.
The modified retrospective approach would not require any transition accounting for leases that expired before the
earliest comparative period presented. Lessees and lessors may not apply a full retrospective transition approach. The
Company is currently evaluating the provisions of ASU No. 2016-02 to determine the potential impact the new
standard will have on the Company's Consolidated Financial Statements. The Company leases 124 buildings and
offices under non-cancelable operating leases, the majority of which will be subject to this ASU. While the Company

Edgar Filing: BANNER CORP - Form 10-Q

19



has not quantified the impact to its balance sheet, upon the adoption of this ASU the Company expects to report
increased assets and increased liabilities on its Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition as a result of
recognizing right-of-use assets and lease liabilities related to these leases and certain equipment under non-cancelable
operating lease agreements, which currently are not reflected in its Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition.

Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 815)

In March 2016, FASB issued ASU No. 2016-05, Effect of Derivative Contract Novations on Existing Hedge
Accounting Relationships. The amendments in this ASU clarify that a change in the counterparty to a derivative
instrument that has been designated as the hedging instrument under Topic 815 (Derivatives and Hedging) does not, in
and of itself, require dedesignation of that hedging relationship provided that all other hedge accounting criteria
continue to be met. The amendments in this ASU are effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2016, and interim periods within those fiscal years. An entity has an option to apply the
amendments in this ASU on either a prospective basis or a modified retrospective basis. Early adoption is permitted,
including adoption in an interim period. At June 30, 2017, Banner had three swap relationships using hedge
accounting with a total market value of $580,000. This ASU has not had a material impact on the Company’s
Consolidated Financial Statements.

In March 2016, FASB issued ASU No. 2016-06, Contingent Put and Call Options in Debt Instruments. The
amendments in this ASU clarify the requirements for assessing whether contingent call (put) options that can
accelerate the payment of principal on debt instruments are clearly and closely related to their debt hosts. To
determine how to account for debt instruments with embedded features, including contingent put and call options, an
entity is required to assess whether the embedded derivatives must be bifurcated from the host contract and accounted
for separately. Part of this assessment consists of evaluating whether the embedded derivative features are clearly and
closely related to the debt host. Under existing guidance, for contingently exercisable options to be considered clearly
and closely related to a debt host, they must be indexed only to interest rates or credit risk. ASU 2016-06 addresses
inconsistent interpretations of whether an event that triggers an entity’s ability to exercise the embedded contingent
option must be indexed to interest rates or credit risk for that option to qualify as clearly and closely
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related. Diversity in practice has developed because the existing four-step decision sequence in ASC 815 focuses only
on whether the payoff was indexed to something other than an interest rate or credit risk. As a result, entities have
been uncertain whether they should (1) determine whether the embedded features are clearly and closely related to the
debt host solely on the basis of the four-step decision sequence or (2) first apply the four-step decision sequence and
then also evaluate whether the event triggering the exercisability of the contingent put or call option is indexed only to
an interest rate or credit risk. This ASU clarifies that in assessing whether an embedded contingent put or call option is
clearly and closely related to the debt host, an entity is required to perform only the four-step decision sequence in
ASC 815 as amended by this ASU. The entity does not have to separately assess whether the event that triggers its
ability to exercise the contingent option is itself indexed only to interest rates or credit risk. The amendments in this
ASU are effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2016, and interim
periods within those fiscal years. This ASU has not had a material impact on the Company’s Consolidated Financial
Statements.

Financial Instruments—Credit Losses (Topic 326)

In June 2016, FASB issued ASU No. 2016-13, Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments. Current
GAAP requires an “incurred loss” methodology for recognizing credit losses that delays recognition until it is probable a
loss has been incurred. The main objective of this ASU is to provide financial statement users with more
decision-useful information about the expected credit losses on financial instruments and other commitments to
extend credit held by a reporting entity at each reporting date. The amendment affects loans, debt securities, trade
receivables, net investments in leases, off-balance-sheet credit exposures, reinsurance receivables, and any other
financial asset not excluded from the scope that have the contractual right to receive cash. The amendments in this
ASU replace the incurred loss impairment methodology in current GAAP with a methodology that reflects expected
credit losses and requires consideration of a broader range of reasonable and supportable information to inform credit
loss estimates. The amendments in this ASU require a financial asset (or group of financial assets) measured at
amortized cost basis to be presented at the net amount expected to be collected. The allowance for credit losses is a
valuation account that is deducted from the amortized cost basis of the financial asset(s) to present the net carrying
value at the amount expected to be collected on the financial asset. The measurement of expected credit losses will be
based on relevant information about past events, including historical experience, current conditions, and reasonable
and supportable forecasts that affect the collectability of the reported amount. The amendments in this ASU broaden
the information that an entity must consider in developing its expected credit loss estimate for assets measured either
collectively or individually. The use of forecasted information incorporates more timely information in the estimate of
expected credit loss, which will be more decision useful to users of the financial statements. The amendments in this
ASU will be effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019, including interim periods within those
fiscal years. The Company is still evaluating the effects this ASU will have on the Company’s Consolidated Financial
Statements. The Company has formed an internal committee to oversee the project and is currently soliciting
proposals from third party vendors to assist with the project. Upon adoption, the Company expects a change in the
processes and procedures to calculate the allowance for loan losses, including changes in assumptions and estimates to
consider expected credit losses over the life of the loan versus the current accounting practice that utilizes the incurred
loss model. The new guidance may result in an increase in the allowance for loan losses which will also reflect the
new requirement to include the nonaccretable principal differences on purchased credit impaired loans; however, the
Company is still in the process of determining the magnitude of the increase and its impact on the Consolidated
Financial Statements. In addition, the current accounting policy and procedures for other-than-temporary impairment
on investment securities available for sale will be replaced with an allowance approach. The Company has begun
developing and implementing processes to address the amendments of this ASU.

Receivables—Nonrefundable Fees and Other Costs (Subtopic 310-20)

In March 2017, FASB issued ASU No. 2017-08, Premium Amortization on Purchased Callable Debt Securities. The
amendments in this ASU shorten the amortization period for certain callable debt securities held at a premium.
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Specifically, the amendments require the premium to be amortized to the earliest call date. Under current GAAP,
premiums and discounts on callable debt securities generally are amortized to the maturity date. The amendments do
not require an accounting change for securities held at a discount; the discount continues to be amortized to the
maturity date. The amendments in this ASU more closely align the amortization period of premiums and discounts to
expectations incorporated in market pricing on the underlying securities. The amendments in this ASU are effective
for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018, and interim periods within those fiscal years. Early adoption is
permitted, including adoption in an interim period. The Company is still evaluating the effects this ASU will have on
the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements.

Compensation - Stock Compensation (Topic 718)
In May 2017, FASB issued ASU 2017-09, Scope of Modification Accounting. The amendments in this ASU are
intended to provide clarity and reduce both (1) diversity in practice and (2) cost and complexity when applying the
guidance in Topic 718, Compensation-Stock Compensation, to a change to the terms or conditions of a share-based
payment award. The amendments in this ASU provide guidance about which changes to the terms or conditions of a
share-based payment award require an entity to apply modification accounting in Topic 718. An entity should account
for the effects of a modification unless all the following are met: (1) the fair value (or calculated value or intrinsic
value, if such an alternative measurement method is used) of the modified award is the same as the fair value (or
calculated value or intrinsic value, if such an alternative measurement method is used) of the original award
immediately before the original award is modified. If the modification does not affect any of the inputs to the
valuation technique that the entity uses to value the award, the entity is not required to estimate the value immediately
before and after the modification, (2) the vesting conditions of the modified award are the same as the vesting
conditions of the original award immediately before the original award is modified and (3) the classification of the
modified award as an equity instrument or a liability instrument is the same as the classification of the original award
immediately before the original award is modified. The amendments in this ASU are effective for all entities for
annual periods, and interim periods within those annual periods, beginning after December 15, 2017. Early adoption is
permitted, including adoption in any interim period, for (1) public business entities for reporting periods for which
financial statements have
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not yet been issued and (2) all other entities for reporting periods for which financial statements have not yet been
made available for issuance. The Company's early adoption of the amendments in this ASU in the quarter ended June
30, 2017 did not have a material impact on the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements.

Note 3:  SECURITIES

The amortized cost, gross unrealized gains and losses and estimated fair value of securities at June 30, 2017 and
December 31, 2016 are summarized as follows (in thousands):

June 30, 2017

Amortized
Cost

Gross
Unrealized
Gains

Gross
Unrealized
Losses

Fair
Value

Trading:
U.S. Government and agency obligations $1,230 $1,315
Municipal bonds 331 333
Corporate bonds 27,045 21,568
Mortgage-backed or related securities 1,601 1,599
Equity securities 14 135

$30,221 $24,950
Available-for-Sale:
U.S. Government and agency obligations $89,925 $ 310 $ (241 ) $89,994
Municipal bonds 112,809 1,131 (423 ) 113,517
Corporate bonds 10,401 91 (45 ) 10,447
Mortgage-backed or related securities 1,042,756 4,060 (4,870 ) 1,041,946
Asset-backed securities 28,642 118 (54 ) 28,706
Equity securities 5,656 10 (117 ) 5,549

$1,290,189 $ 5,720 $ (5,750 ) $1,290,159
Held-to-Maturity:
U.S. Government and agency obligations $1,045 $ — $ (4 ) $1,041
Municipal bonds: 196,494 4,900 (1,201 ) 200,193
Corporate bonds 3,802 — — 3,802
Mortgage-backed or related securities 66,709 550 (206 ) 67,053

$268,050 $ 5,450 $ (1,411 ) $272,089
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December 31, 2016

Amortized
Cost

Gross
Unrealized
Gains

Gross
Unrealized
Losses

Fair
Value

Trading:
U.S. Government and agency obligations $1,230 $1,326
Municipal bonds 331 335
Corporate bonds 26,959 21,143
Mortgage-backed or related securities 1,620 1,641
Equity securities 14 123

$30,154 $24,568
Available-for-Sale:
U.S. Government and agency obligations $57,288 $ 146 $ (456 ) $56,978
Municipal bonds 110,487 455 (1,089 ) 109,853
Corporate bonds 10,255 77 (49 ) 10,283
Mortgage-backed or related securities 598,899 2,064 (6,251 ) 594,712
Asset-backed securities 29,319 — (326 ) 28,993
Equity securities 88 10 — 98

$806,336 $ 2,752 $ (8,171 ) $800,917
Held-to-Maturity:
U.S. Government and agency obligations $1,065 $ — $ (18 ) $1,047
Municipal bonds: 196,989 4,173 (1,272 ) 199,890
Corporate bonds 3,876 — — 3,876
Mortgage-backed or related securities 65,943 309 (537 ) 65,715

$267,873 $ 4,482 $ (1,827 ) $270,528
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At June 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016, the gross unrealized losses and the fair value for securities
available-for-sale and held-to-maturity aggregated by the length of time that individual securities have been in a
continuous unrealized loss position was as follows (in thousands):

June 30, 2017
Less Than 12
Months 12 Months or More Total

Fair
Value

Unrealized
Losses

Fair
Value

Unrealized
Losses

Fair
Value

Unrealized
Losses

Available-for-Sale:
U.S. Government and agency obligations $39,614 $ (235 ) $795 $ (6 ) $40,409 $ (241 )
Municipal bonds 50,381 (392 ) 1,200 (31 ) 51,581 (423 )
Corporate bonds — — 4,946 (45 ) 4,946 (45 )
Mortgage-backed or related securities 527,095 (4,189 ) 50,232 (681 ) 577,327 (4,870 )
Asset-backed securities 10,461 (54 ) — — 10,461 (54 )
Equity securities 5,451 (117 ) — — 5,451 (117 )

$633,002 $ (4,987 ) $57,173 $ (763 ) $690,175 $ (5,750 )
Held-to-Maturity
U.S. Government and agency obligations $1,041 $ (4 ) $— $ — $1,041 $ (4 )
Municipal bonds 43,634 (1,198 ) 203 (3 ) 43,837 (1,201 )
Mortgage-backed or related securities 17,939 (206 ) — — 17,939 (206 )

$62,614 $ (1,408 ) $203 $ (3 ) $62,817 $ (1,411 )

December 31, 2016
Less Than 12
Months 12 Months or More Total

Fair
Value

Unrealized
Losses

Fair
Value

Unrealized
Losses

Fair
Value

Unrealized
Losses

Available-for-Sale:
U.S. Government and agency obligations $39,043 $ (442 ) $1,012 $ (14 ) $40,055 $ (456 )
Municipal bonds 60,765 (1,087 ) 556 (2 ) 61,321 (1,089 )
Corporate bonds 5,206 (49 ) — — 5,206 (49 )
Mortgage-backed or related securities 403,431 (5,604 ) 47,467 (647 ) 450,898 (6,251 )
Asset-backed securities 9,928 (101 ) 19,064 (225 ) 28,992 (326 )

$518,373 $ (7,283 ) $68,099 $ (888 ) $586,472 $ (8,171 )
Held-to-Maturity
U.S. Government and agency obligations $1,047 $ (18 ) $— $ — $1,047 $ (18 )
Municipal bonds 64,802 (1,267 ) 204 (5 ) 65,006 (1,272 )
Mortgage-backed or related securities 42,245 (537 ) — — 42,245 (537 )

$108,094 $ (1,822 ) $204 $ (5 ) $108,298 $ (1,827 )

At June 30, 2017, there were 221 securities—available-for-sale with unrealized losses, compared to 243 at December 31,
2016.  At June 30, 2017, there were 29 securities—held-to-maturity with unrealized losses, compared to 73 at
December 31, 2016.  Management does not believe that any individual unrealized loss as of June 30, 2017 or
December 31, 2016 represented other-than-temporary impairment (OTTI).  The decline in fair market value of these
securities was generally due to changes in interest rates and changes in market-desired spreads subsequent to their
purchase.

There were no sales of securities—trading during the six months ended June 30, 2017 or June 30, 2016. The Company
did not recognize any OTTI charges or recoveries on securities—trading during the six months ended June 30, 2017 or
the six months ended June 30, 2016. There were no securities—trading in a nonaccrual status at June 30, 2017 or
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December 31, 2016.  Net unrealized holding gains of $315,000 were recognized during the six months ended June 30,
2017.

Sales of securities—available-for-sale totaled $15.6 million with a resulting net loss of $41,000 for the six months ended
June 30, 2017.  Sales of securities—available-for-sale totaled $96.8 million with a resulting net loss of $359,000 for the
six months ended June 30, 2016. There were no securities—available-for-sale in a nonaccrual status at June 30, 2017 or
December 31, 2016.
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There were no sales of securities—held-to-maturity during the six months ended June 30, 2017 or June 30, 2016. There
were no securities—held-to-maturity in a nonaccrual status at June 30, 2017 or December 31, 2016.

The amortized cost and estimated fair value of securities at June 30, 2017, by contractual maturity, are shown below
(in thousands). Expected maturities will differ from contractual maturities because some securities may be called or
prepaid with or without call or prepayment penalties.

June 30, 2017
Trading Available-for-Sale Held-to-Maturity
Amortized
Cost

Fair
Value

Amortized
Cost

Fair
Value

Amortized
Cost

Fair
Value

Maturing in one year or less $1,732 $1,732 $30,084 $30,039 $2,016 $2,017
Maturing after one year through five years 230 230 109,023 109,253 20,143 20,331
Maturing after five years through ten years 1,200 1,285 256,093 255,194 112,167 113,755
Maturing after ten years through twenty years 12,705 11,170 280,181 281,226 90,554 93,658
Maturing after twenty years 14,340 10,398 609,152 608,898 43,170 42,328

30,207 24,815 1,284,533 1,284,610 268,050 272,089
Equity securities 14 135 5,656 5,549 — —

$30,221 $24,950 $1,290,189 $1,290,159 $268,050 $272,089

The following table presents, as of June 30, 2017, investment securities which were pledged to secure borrowings,
public deposits or other obligations as permitted or required by law (in thousands):

June 30, 2017
Carrying
Value

Amortized
Cost

Fair
Value

Purpose or beneficiary:
State and local governments public deposits $147,524 $147,272 $150,325
Interest rate swap counterparties 24,125 24,150 24,242
Repurchase agreements 133,210 133,434 133,396
Other 3,972 3,972 3,921
Total pledged securities $308,831 $308,828 $311,884
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Note 4: LOANS RECEIVABLE AND THE ALLOWANCE FOR LOAN LOSSES

Loans receivable at June 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016 are summarized as follows (dollars in thousands):
June 30, 2017 December 31, 2016

Amount Percent
of Total Amount

Percent
of Total

Commercial real estate:
Owner-occupied $1,358,094 18.0 % $1,352,999 18.1 %
Investment properties 1,975,075 26.2 1,986,336 26.7
Multifamily real estate 288,442 3.8 248,150 3.3
Commercial construction 144,092 1.9 124,068 1.7
Multifamily construction 111,562 1.5 124,126 1.7
One- to four-family construction 380,782 5.0 375,704 5.0
Land and land development:
Residential 147,149 1.9 170,004 2.3
Commercial 27,917 0.4 29,184 0.4
Commercial business 1,286,204 17.0 1,207,879 16.2
Agricultural business, including secured by farmland 344,412 4.6 369,156 5.0
One- to four-family residential 800,008 10.6 813,077 10.9
Consumer:
Consumer secured by one- to four-family 527,623 7.0 493,211 6.6
Consumer—other 160,203 2.1 157,254 2.1
Total loans 7,551,563 100.0% 7,451,148 100.0%
Less allowance for loan losses (88,586 ) (85,997 )
Net loans $7,462,977 $7,365,151

Loan amounts are net of unearned loan fees in excess of unamortized costs of $3.3 million as of June 30, 2017 and
$5.8 million as of December 31, 2016. Net loans include net discounts on acquired loans of $25.8 million and $31.1
million as of June 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016, respectively.

Purchased credit-impaired loans and purchased non-credit-impaired loans.  Purchased loans, including loans acquired
in business combinations, are recorded at their fair value at the acquisition date. Credit discounts are included in the
determination of fair value; therefore, an allowance for loan and lease losses is not recorded at the acquisition date.
Acquired loans are evaluated upon acquisition and classified as either purchased credit-impaired (PCI) or purchased
non-credit-impaired. PCI loans reflect credit deterioration since origination such that it is probable at acquisition that
the Company will be unable to collect all contractually required payments. The outstanding contractual unpaid
principal balance of PCI loans, excluding acquisition accounting adjustments, was $39.6 million at June 30, 2017 and
$48.4 million at December 31, 2016. The carrying balance of PCI loans was $26.3 million at June 30, 2017 and $32.3
million at December 31, 2016.
The following table presents the changes in the accretable yield for PCI loans for the three and six months ended
June 30, 2017 and 2016 (in thousands):

Three Months
Ended
June 30,

Six Months Ended
June 30,

2017 2016 2017 2016
Balance, beginning of period $8,670 $10,717 $8,717 $10,375
Accretion to interest income (2,170 ) (2,607 ) (3,490 ) (4,538 )
Disposals (497 ) (101 ) (497 ) (119 )
Reclassifications from non-accretable difference 1,663 3,026 2,936 5,317
Balance, end of period $7,666 $11,035 $7,666 $11,035
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As of June 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016, the non-accretable difference between the contractually required
payments and cash flows expected to be collected were $13.0 million and $15.7 million, respectively.

Impaired Loans and the Allowance for Loan Losses.  A loan is considered impaired when, based on current
information and circumstances, the Company determines it is probable that it will be unable to collect all amounts due
according to the contractual terms of the loan agreement, including scheduled interest payments.  Factors involved in
determining impairment include, but are not limited to, the financial condition of
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the borrower, the value of the underlying collateral and the current status of the economy. Impaired loans are
comprised of loans on nonaccrual, troubled debt restructures (TDRs) that are performing under their restructured
terms, and loans that are 90 days or more past due, but are still on accrual. PCI loans are considered performing within
the scope of the purchased credit-impaired accounting guidance and are not included in the impaired loan tables.

The following tables provide information on impaired loans, excluding PCI loans, with and without allowance
reserves at June 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016. Recorded investment includes the unpaid principal balance or the
carrying amount of loans less charge-offs and net deferred loan fees (in thousands):

June 30, 2017

Unpaid
Principal
Balance

Recorded
Investment Related

AllowanceWithout
Allowance
(1)

With
Allowance
(2)

Commercial real estate:
Owner-occupied $5,099 $4,670 $ 201 $ 19
Investment properties 4,827 1,597 3,228 251
Multifamily real estate 346 — 345 61
Land and land development:
Residential 1,737 1,078 323 116
Commercial 1,538 928 — —
Commercial business 8,305 7,114 603 59
Agricultural business/farmland 4,682 4,186 373 238
One- to four-family residential 9,005 2,982 5,956 324
Consumer:
Consumer secured by one- to four-family 1,732 1,524 142 8
Consumer—other 155 78 77 4

$37,426 $24,157 $ 11,248 $ 1,080

December 31, 2016

Unpaid
Principal
Balance

Recorded
Investment Related

AllowanceWithout
Allowance
(1)

With
Allowance
(2)

Commercial real estate:
Owner-occupied $3,786 $3,373 $ 203 $ 20
Investment properties 9,916 5,565 4,304 408
Multifamily real estate 508 147 349 64
One- to four-family construction 1,180 — 1,180 156
Land and land development:
Residential 3,012 750 1,106 219
Commercial 1,608 998 — —
Commercial business 3,753 3,074 651 69
Agricultural business/farmland 6,438 6,354 — —
One- to four-family residential 11,439 3,149 8,026 479
Consumer:
Consumer secured by one- to four-family 1,904 1,721 144 1
Consumer—other 391 226 166 4

$43,935 $25,357 $ 16,129 $ 1,420
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(1)

Includes loans without an allowance reserve that have been individually evaluated for impairment and that
evaluation concluded that no reserve was needed and $8.6 million and $10.0 million of homogenous and small
balance loans as of June 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016, respectively, that are collectively evaluated for
impairment for which a general reserve has been established.

(2)
Loans with a specific allowance reserve have been individually evaluated for impairment using either a discounted
cash flow analysis or, for collateral dependent loans, current appraisals less costs to sell to establish realizable
value.
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The following tables summarize our average recorded investment and interest income recognized on impaired loans
by loan class for the three and six months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 (in thousands):

Three Months Ended
June 30, 2017

Three Months Ended
June 30, 2016

Average
Recorded
Investment

Interest
Income
Recognized

Average
Recorded
Investment

Interest
Income
Recognized

Commercial real estate:
Owner-occupied $2,662 $ 2 $1,764 $ 2
Investment properties 7,438 38 16,000 75
Multifamily real estate 395 5 386 5
One- to four-family construction 393 7 1,621 25
Land and land development:
Residential 1,727 19 1,961 22
Commercial 944 — 994 —
Commercial business 4,857 50 1,910 6
Agricultural business/farmland 4,339 30 5,038 8
One- to four-family residential 9,503 84 12,990 113
Consumer:
Consumer secured by one- to four-family 1,591 2 1,333 3
Consumer—other 175 1 523 3

$34,024 $ 238 $44,520 $ 262

Six Months Ended
June 30, 2017

Six Months Ended
June 30, 2016

Average
Recorded
Investment

Interest
Income
Recognized

Average
Recorded
Investment

Interest
Income
Recognized

Commercial real estate:
Owner-occupied $2,789 $ 4 $1,719 $ 6
Investment properties 8,165 87 16,001 150
Multifamily real estate 445 9 388 9
One- to four-family construction 787 27 1,616 53
Land and land development:
Residential 1,813 36 1,966 43
Commercial 961 — 1,010 —
Commercial business 4,692 57 1,980 12
Agricultural business/farmland 5,310 62 4,428 13
One- to four-family residential 9,953 167 12,986 227
Consumer:
Consumer secured by one- to four-family 1,666 5 1,255 8
Consumer—other 222 4 547 7

$36,803 $ 458 $43,896 $ 528

Troubled Debt Restructures.  Some of the Company’s loans are reported as TDRs.  Loans are reported as TDRs when
the bank grants one or more concessions to a borrower experiencing financial difficulties that it would not otherwise
consider.  Examples of such concessions include forgiveness of principal or accrued interest, extending the maturity
date(s) or providing a lower interest rate than would be normally available for a transaction of similar risk.  Our TDRs
have generally not involved forgiveness of amounts due, but almost always include a modification of multiple factors;
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the most common combination includes interest rate, payment amount and maturity date. As a result of these
concessions, restructured loans are impaired as the Company will not collect all amounts due, both principal and
interest, in accordance with the terms of the original loan agreement.  Loans identified as TDRs are accounted for in
accordance with the Company's impaired loan accounting policies.
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The following table presents TDRs by accrual and nonaccrual status at June 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016 (in
thousands):

June 30, 2017 December 31, 2016
Accrual
Status

Nonaccrual
Status

Total
TDRs

Accrual
Status

Nonaccrual
Status

Total
TDRs

Commercial real estate:
Owner-occupied $201 $ 92 $293 $203 $ 96 $299
Investment properties 3,228 — 3,228 4,304 — 4,304
Multifamily real estate 345 — 345 349 — 349
One- to four-family construction — — — 1,180 — 1,180
Land and land development:
Residential 603 — 603 1,106 — 1,106
Commercial business 603 — 603 653 — 653
Agricultural business, including secured by farmland 3,104 79 3,183 3,125 79 3,204
One- to four-family residential 5,228 820 6,048 7,678 843 8,521
Consumer:
Consumer secured by one- to four-family 142 3 145 143 6 149
Consumer—other 77 — 77 166 — 166

$13,531 $ 994 $14,525 $18,907 $ 1,024 $19,931

As of June 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016, the Company had commitments to advance additional funds related to
TDRs up to $126,000 and $127,000, respectively.

No new TDRs occurred during the six months ended June 30, 2017 or 2016.

There were no TDRs which incurred a payment default within twelve months of the restructure date during the three
and six-month periods ended June 30, 2017 and 2016. A default on a TDR results in either a transfer to nonaccrual
status or a partial charge-off, or both.

Credit Quality Indicators:  To appropriately and effectively manage the ongoing credit quality of the Company’s loan
portfolio, management has implemented a risk-rating or loan grading system for its loans.  The system is a tool to
evaluate portfolio asset quality throughout each applicable loan’s life as an asset of the Company.  Generally, loans and
leases are risk rated on an aggregate borrower/relationship basis with individual loans sharing similar ratings.  There
are some instances when specific situations relating to individual loans will provide the basis for different risk ratings
within the aggregate relationship.  Loans are graded on a scale of 1 to 9.  A description of the general characteristics of
these categories is shown below:

Overall Risk Rating Definitions:  Risk-ratings contain both qualitative and quantitative measurements and take into
account the financial strength of a borrower and the structure of the loan or lease.  Consequently, the definitions are to
be applied in the context of each lending transaction and judgment must also be used to determine the appropriate risk
rating, as it is not unusual for a loan or lease to exhibit characteristics of more than one risk-rating
category.  Consideration for the final rating is centered in the borrower’s ability to repay, in a timely fashion, both
principal and interest.  There were no material changes in the risk-rating or loan grading system in the six months
ended June 30, 2017.

Risk Rating 1: Exceptional
A credit supported by exceptional financial strength, stability, and liquidity.  The risk rating of 1 is reserved for the
Company’s top quality loans, generally reserved for investment grade credits underwritten to the standards of
institutional credit providers.
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Risk Rating 2: Excellent
A credit supported by excellent financial strength, stability and liquidity.  The risk rating of 2 is reserved for very
strong and highly stable customers with ready access to alternative financing sources.

Risk Rating 3: Strong
A credit supported by good overall financial strength and stability.  Collateral margins are strong; cash flow is stable
although susceptible to cyclical market changes.

Risk Rating 4: Acceptable
A credit supported by the borrower’s adequate financial strength and stability.  Assets and cash flow are reasonably
sound and provide for orderly debt reduction.  Access to alternative financing sources will be more difficult to obtain.
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Risk Rating 5: Watch
A credit with the characteristics of an acceptable credit which requires, however, more than the normal level of
supervision and warrants formal quarterly management reporting.  Credits in this category are not yet criticized or
classified, but due to adverse events or aspects of underwriting require closer than normal supervision. Generally,
credits should be watch credits in most cases for six months or less as the impact of stress factors are analyzed.

Risk Rating 6: Special Mention
A credit with potential weaknesses that deserves management’s close attention is risk rated a 6.  If left uncorrected,
these potential weaknesses will result in deterioration in the capacity to repay debt.  A key distinction between Special
Mention and Substandard is that in a Special Mention credit, there are identified weaknesses that pose potential risk(s)
to the repayment sources, versus well defined weaknesses that pose risk(s) to the repayment sources.  Assets in this
category are expected to be in this category no more than 9-12 months as the potential weaknesses in the credit are
resolved.

Risk Rating 7: Substandard
A credit with well defined weaknesses that jeopardize the ability to repay in full is risk rated a 7.  These credits are
inadequately protected by either the sound net worth and payment capacity of the borrower or the value of pledged
collateral.  These are credits with a distinct possibility of loss.  Loans headed for foreclosure and/or legal action due to
deterioration are rated 7 or worse.

Risk Rating 8: Doubtful
A credit with an extremely high probability of loss is risk rated 8.  These credits have all the same critical weaknesses
that are found in a substandard loan; however, the weaknesses are elevated to the point that based upon current
information, collection or liquidation in full is improbable.  While some loss on doubtful credits is expected, pending
events may strengthen a credit making the amount and timing of any loss indeterminable.  In these situations taking
the loss is inappropriate until it is clear that the pending event has failed to strengthen the credit and improve the
capacity to repay debt.

Risk Rating 9: Loss
A credit that is considered to be currently uncollectible or of such little value that it is no longer a viable Bank asset is
risk rated 9.  Losses should be taken in the accounting period in which the credit is determined to be
uncollectible.  Taking a loss does not mean that a credit has absolutely no recovery or salvage value but, rather, it is
not practical or desirable to defer writing off the credit, even though partial recovery may occur in the future.
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The following tables present the Company’s portfolio of risk-rated loans and non-risk-rated loans by grade or other
characteristics as of June 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016 (in thousands):

June 30, 2017

By class:
Pass (Risk
Ratings
1-5)(1)

Special
Mention Substandard Doubtful Loss TotalLoans

Commercial real estate:
Owner-occupied $1,322,190 $2,495 $ 33,409 $ —$ —$1,358,094
Investment properties 1,957,466 9,375 8,234 — — 1,975,075
Multifamily real estate 287,315 — 1,127 — — 288,442
Commercial construction 144,092 — — — — 144,092
Multifamily construction 111,562 — — — — 111,562
One- to four-family construction 379,761 — 1,021 — — 380,782
Land and land development:
Residential 144,607 — 2,542 — — 147,149
Commercial 23,997 — 3,920 — — 27,917
Commercial business 1,216,834 16,625 52,745 — — 1,286,204
Agricultural business, including secured by farmland 320,470 10,427 13,515 — — 344,412
One- to four-family residential 794,150 927 4,931 — — 800,008
Consumer:
Consumer secured by one- to four-family 525,128 2 2,493 — — 527,623
Consumer—other 159,731 78 394 — — 160,203
Total $7,387,303 $39,929 $ 124,331 $ —$ —$7,551,563
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December 31, 2016

By class:
Pass (Risk
Ratings
1-5)(1)

Special
Mention Substandard Doubtful Loss TotalLoans

Commercial real estate:
Owner-occupied $1,313,142 $14,394 $ 25,463 $ — $ —$1,352,999
Investment properties 1,948,822 23,846 13,668 — — 1,986,336
Multifamily real estate 247,258 — 892 — — 248,150
Commercial construction 124,068 — — — — 124,068
Multifamily construction 124,126 — — — — 124,126
One- to four-family construction 371,636 — 4,068 — — 375,704
Land and land development:
Residential 167,764 — 2,240 — — 170,004
Commercial 25,090 — 4,094 — — 29,184
Commercial business 1,148,585 35,036 24,258 — — 1,207,879
Agricultural business, including secured by farmland 356,656 3,335 9,165 — — 369,156
One- to four-family residential 807,837 967 4,273 — — 813,077
Consumer:
Consumer secured by one- to four-family 490,877 5 2,327 2 — 493,211
Consumer—other 156,547 108 594 5 — 157,254
Total $7,282,408 $77,691 $ 91,042 $ 7 $ —$7,451,148

(1)

The Pass category includes some performing loans that are part of homogenous pools which are not individually
risk-rated.  This includes all consumer loans, all one- to four-family residential loans and, as of June 30, 2017 and
December 31, 2016, in the commercial business category, $276.6 million and $225.0 million, respectively, of
credit-scored small business loans.  As loans in these pools become non-performing, they are individually
risk-rated.

(2) Non-performing loans include non-accrual loans and loans past due greater than 90 days and on accrual status.
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The following tables provide additional detail on the age analysis of the Company’s past due loans as of June 30, 2017
and December 31, 2016 (in thousands):

June 30, 2017

30-59
Days
Past
Due

60-89
Days
Past
Due

90 Days
or More
Past
Due

Total
Past
Due

Purchased
Credit-ImpairedCurrent

Total
Loans

Loans
90
Days
or
More
Past
Due
and
Accruing

Non-accrual

Commercial real estate:
Owner-occupied $108 $1,644 $3,477 $5,229 $ 8,021 $1,344,844 $1,358,094 $ — $ 4,670
Investment properties 4,231 — 1,479 5,710 10,217 1,959,148 1,975,075 — 1,597
Multifamily real estate — — — — 174 288,268 288,442 — —
Commercial construction— — — — — 144,092 144,092 — —
Multifamily construction— — — — — 111,562 111,562 — —
One-to-four-family
construction — — — — 817 379,965 380,782 — —

Land and land
development:
Residential — — 798 798 — 146,351 147,149 — 798
Commercial — — 928 928 2,993 23,996 27,917 — 928
Commercial business 3,335 4,041 1,968 9,344 2,968 1,273,892 1,286,204 77 7,037
Agricultural business,
including secured by
farmland

1,918 495 873 3,286 730 340,396 344,412 — 1,456

One- to four-family
residential 534 241 2,057 2,832 294 796,882 800,008 754 2,955

Consumer:
Consumer secured by
one- to four-family 731 113 767 1,611 8 526,004 527,623 108 1,416

Consumer—other 658 94 19 771 45 159,387 160,203 — 78
Total $11,515 $6,628 $12,366 $30,509 $ 26,267 $7,494,787 $7,551,563 $ 939 $ 20,935
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December 31, 2016

30-59
Days
Past
Due

60-89
Days
Past
Due

90 Days
or More
Past
Due

Total
Past
Due

Purchased
Credit-ImpairedCurrent

Total
Loans

Loans
90 Days
or More
Past
Due and
Accruing

Non-accrual

Commercial real estate:
Owner-occupied $1,938 $— $2,538 $4,476 $ 13,281 $1,335,242 $1,352,999 $— $ 3,373
Investment properties 117 — 5,447 5,564 10,168 1,970,604 1,986,336 701 4,864
Multifamily real estate — — 147 147 139 247,864 248,150 147 —
Commercial
construction — — — — — 124,068 124,068 — —

Multifamily construction— — — — — 124,126 124,126 — —
One-to-four-family
construction — — — — 862 374,842 375,704 — —

Land and land
development:
Residential 48 — 750 798 — 169,206 170,004 — 750
Commercial — — 998 998 3,016 25,170 29,184 — 998
Commercial business 2,314 647 1,591 4,552 3,821 1,199,506 1,207,879 — 3,074
Agricultural business,
including secured by
farmland

360 1,244 2,768 4,372 684 364,100 369,156 — 3,229

One-to four-family
residential 1,793 249 2,110 4,152 274 808,651 813,077 1,233 2,263

Consumer:
Consumer secured by
one- to four-family 932 160 986 2,078 18 491,115 493,211 61 1,660

Consumer—other 1,421 154 147 1,722 59 155,473 157,254 11 215
Total $8,923 $2,454 $17,482 $28,859 $ 32,322 $7,389,967 $7,451,148 $ 2,153 $ 20,426
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The following tables provide additional information on the allowance for loan losses and loan balances individually
and collectively evaluated for impairment at or for the three and six months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 (in
thousands):

For the Three Months Ended June 30, 2017
Commercial
Real
Estate

Multifamily
Real
Estate

Construction
and Land

Commercial
Business

Agricultural
Business

One- to
Four-Family
Residential

ConsumerUnallocatedTotal

Allowance for loan
losses:
Beginning balance $20,472 $ 1,378 $ 29,464 $ 19,768 $ 3,245 $ 1,974 $ 3,840 $ 6,386 $86,527
Provision for loan
losses 3,543 173 (3,176 ) 356 648 (73 ) 366 163 2,000

Recoveries 264 11 1,024 171 19 109 101 — 1,699
Charge-offs (47 ) — — (1,169 ) (104 ) — (320 ) — (1,640 )
Ending balance $24,232 $ 1,562 $ 27,312 $ 19,126 $ 3,808 $ 2,010 $ 3,987 $ 6,549 $88,586

For the Six Months Ended June 30, 2017
Commercial
Real
Estate

Multifamily
Real
Estate

Construction
and Land

Commercial
Business

Agricultural
Business

One- to
Four-Family
Residential

ConsumerUnallocatedTotal

Allowance for loan
losses:
Beginning balance $20,993 $ 1,360 $ 34,252 $ 16,533 $ 2,967 $ 2,238 $ 4,104 $ 3,550 $85,997
Provision for loan
losses 2,952 191 (8,047 ) 5,044 972 (482 ) 371 2,999 4,000

Recoveries 334 11 1,107 344 132 254 195 — 2,377
Charge-offs (47 ) — — (2,795 ) (263 ) — (683 ) — (3,788 )
Ending balance $24,232 $ 1,562 $ 27,312 $ 19,126 $ 3,808 $ 2,010 $ 3,987 $ 6,549 $88,586

June 30, 2017
Commercial
 Real
Estate

Multifamily
Real
Estate

Construction
and Land

Commercial
Business

Agricultural
Business

One- to
Four-Family
Residential

ConsumerUnallocatedTotal

Allowance for loan
losses:
Individually evaluated for
impairment $270 $ 61 $ 116 $ 59 $ 238 $ 324 $ 12 $ — $1,080

Collectively evaluated for
impairment 23,962 1,501 27,183 19,067 3,570 1,686 3,975 6,549 87,493

Purchased credit-impaired
loans — — 13 — — — — — 13

Total allowance for loan
losses $24,232 $ 1,562 $ 27,312 $ 19,126 $ 3,808 $ 2,010 $ 3,987 $ 6,549 $88,586

Loan balances:
Individually evaluated for
impairment $8,164 $345 $2,281 $6,737 $3,799 $5,228 $220 $—$26,774

Collectively evaluated for
impairment 3,306,767 287,923 805,411 1,276,499 339,883 794,486 687,553 —7,498,522

Purchased
credit-impaired loans 18,238 174 3,810 2,968 730 294 53 —26,267

Total loans $3,333,169 $288,442 $811,502 $1,286,204 $344,412 $800,008 $687,826 $—$7,551,563
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For the Three Months Ended June 30, 2016
Commercial
 Real
Estate

Multifamily
Real
Estate

Construction
and Land

Commercial
Business

Agricultural
Business

One- to
Four-Family
Residential

ConsumerUnallocatedTotal

Allowance for loan
losses:
Beginning balance $19,732 $ 2,853 $ 29,318 $ 15,118 $ 4,282 $ 2,170 $ 3,541 $ 1,183 $78,197
Provision for loan
losses 391 (1,338 ) 2,419 2,189 (1,551 ) (490 ) 366 14 2,000

Recoveries 26 — 124 622 160 558 249 — 1,739
Charge-offs — — — (171 ) — (34 ) (413 ) — (618 )
Ending balance $20,149 $ 1,515 $ 31,861 $ 17,758 $ 2,891 $ 2,204 $ 3,743 $ 1,197 $81,318

For the Six Months Ended June 30, 2016
Commercial
 Real
Estate

Multifamily
Real
Estate

Construction
and Land

Commercial
Business

Agricultural
Business

One- to
Four-Family
Residential

ConsumerUnallocatedTotal

Allowance for loan
losses:
Beginning balance $20,716 $ 4,195 $ 27,131 $ 13,856 $ 3,645 $ 4,732 $ 902 $ 2,831 $78,008
Provision for loan
losses (451 ) (2,680 ) 4,135 2,870 (364 ) (3,064 ) 3,188 (1,634 ) 2,000

Recoveries 64 — 595 1,342 177 570 456 — 3,204
Charge-offs (180 ) — — (310 ) (567 ) (34 ) (803 ) — (1,894 )
Ending balance $20,149 $ 1,515 $ 31,861 $ 17,758 $ 2,891 $ 2,204 $ 3,743 $ 1,197 $81,318

June 30, 2016
Commercial
Real
Estate

Multifamily
Real
Estate

Construction
and Land

Commercial
Business

Agricultural
Business

One- to
Four-Family
Residential

ConsumerUnallocatedTotal

Allowance for loan
losses:
Individually evaluated for
impairment $556 $ 66 $ 423 $ 60 $ — $ 582 $ 6 $ — $1,693

Collectively evaluated for
impairment 19,593 1,449 31,405 17,698 2,891 1,622 3,737 1,197 79,592

Purchased credit-impaired
loans — — 33 — — — — — 33

Total allowance for loan
losses $20,149 $ 1,515 $ 31,861 $ 17,758 $ 2,891 $ 2,204 $ 3,743 $ 1,197 $81,318

Loan balances:
Individually evaluated for
impairment $15,603 $353 $4,470 $1,385 $3,653 $8,514 $320 $—$34,298

Collectively evaluated
for  impairment 3,151,203 287,116 705,034 1,223,865 365,730 870,208 643,095 —7,246,251

Purchased credit
impaired loans 33,332 314 3,803 5,932 1,132 264 599 —45,376

Total loans $3,200,138 $287,783 $713,307 $1,231,182 $370,515 $878,986 $644,014 $—$7,325,925
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Note 5:  REAL ESTATE OWNED, NET

The following table presents the changes in REO for the three and six months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 (in
thousands):

Three Months
Ended
June 30,

Six Months Ended
June 30,

2017 2016 2017 2016
Balance, beginning of the period $3,040 $7,207 $11,081 $11,627
Additions from loan foreclosures 46 376 46 378
Additions from acquisitions — — — 400
Additions from capitalized costs 54 — 54 —
Proceeds from dispositions of REO (1,228 ) (1,656 ) (10,421 ) (6,322 )
Gain on sale of REO 721 651 1,923 700
Valuation adjustments in the period (206 ) (431 ) (256 ) (636 )
Balance, end of the period $2,427 $6,147 $2,427 $6,147

REO properties are recorded at the estimated fair value of the property, less expected selling costs, establishing a new
cost basis.  Subsequently, REO properties are carried at the lower of the new cost basis or updated fair market values,
based on updated appraisals of the underlying properties, as received.  Valuation allowances on the carrying value of
REO may be recognized based on updated appraisals or on management’s authorization to reduce the selling price of a
property. At June 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016, the Company had $849,000 and $917,000, respectively, of
foreclosed one- to four-family residential real estate properties held as REO. The recorded investment in one- to
four-family residential loans in the process of foreclosure was $1.6 million at June 30, 2017 compared with $715,000
at December 31, 2016.

Note 6:  GOODWILL, OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND MORTGAGE SERVICING RIGHTS

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets:  At June 30, 2017, intangible assets are comprised of goodwill, CDI, and
favorable leasehold intangibles (LHI) acquired in business combinations. Goodwill represents the excess of the
purchase considerations paid over the fair value of the assets acquired, net of the fair values of liabilities assumed in a
business combination, and is not amortized but is reviewed annually for impairment. At December 31, 2016, the
Company completed its qualitative assessment of goodwill and concluded that it is more likely than not that the fair
value of Banner, the reporting unit, exceeds the carrying value. The adjustments to goodwill in 2016 relate to changes
in the preliminary goodwill recorded for the merger of Banner Bank and AmericanWest Bank (AmericanWest) in
October, 2015, including adjustments to loan discount, deferred taxes and REO valuations.

CDI represents the value of transaction-related deposits and the value of the customer relationships associated with the
deposits. LHI represents the value ascribed to leases assumed in an acquisition in which the lease terms are favorable
compared to a market lease at the date of acquisition. The Company amortizes CDI and LHI over their estimated
useful lives and reviews them at least annually for events or circumstances that could impair their value.  

The following table summarizes the changes in the Company’s goodwill and other intangibles for the six months ended
June 30, 2017 and the year ended December 31, 2016 (in thousands):

Goodwill CDI Favorable
LHI Total

Balance, December 31, 2015 $247,738 $36,762 $ 710 $285,210
Amortization — (7,061 ) (249 ) (7,310 )
Adjustments to goodwill (3,155 ) — — (3,155 )
Balance, December 31, 2016 244,583 29,701 461 274,745
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Amortization — (3,248 ) (101 ) (3,349 )
Balance, June 30, 2017 $244,583 $26,453 $ 360 $271,396
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The following table presents the estimated amortization expense with respect to CDI for the periods indicated (in
thousands):

Estimated
Amortization

Remainder of 2017 $ 3,084
2018 5,609
2019 4,889
2020 4,169
2021 3,448
Thereafter 5,254

$ 26,453

Mortgage Servicing Rights:  Mortgage servicing rights are reported in other assets. Mortgage servicing rights are
initially recorded at fair value and are amortized in proportion to, and over the period of, the estimated future net
servicing income of the underlying financial assets.  Mortgage servicing rights are subsequently evaluated for
impairment based upon the fair value of the rights compared to the amortized cost (remaining unamortized initial fair
value).  If the fair value is less than the amortized cost, a valuation allowance is created through an impairment charge,
which is recognized in servicing fee income on the consolidated statement of operations.   However, if the fair value is
greater than the amortized cost, the amount above the amortized cost is not recognized in the carrying value.  During
the three and six months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016, the Company did not record any impairment charges or
recoveries against mortgage servicing rights. The unpaid principal balance for loans which mortgage servicing rights
have been recorded totaled $2.11 billion and $2.05 billion at June 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016,
respectively.  Custodial accounts maintained in connection with this servicing totaled $14.1 million and $10.3 million
at June 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016, respectively.

An analysis of our mortgage servicing rights for the three and six months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 is presented
below (in thousands):

Three Months
Ended
June 30,

Six Months Ended
June 30,

2017 2016 2017 2016
Balance, beginning of the period $15,272 $13,733 $15,249 $13,354
Additions—amounts capitalized 706 1,515 1,651 2,719
Amortization (1) (993 ) (972 ) (1,915 ) (1,797 )
Balance, end of the period (2) $14,985 $14,276 $14,985 $14,276

(1) Amortization of mortgage servicing rights is recorded as a reduction of loan servicing income and any unamortized
balance is fully amortized if the loan repays in full.

(2) There was no valuation allowance as of June 30, 2017 and 2016.
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Note 7:  DEPOSITS

Deposits consisted of the following at June 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016 (in thousands):
June 30,
2017

December 31,
2016

Non-interest-bearing accounts $3,254,581 $ 3,140,451
Interest-bearing checking 953,227 914,484
Regular savings accounts 1,530,517 1,523,391
Money market accounts 1,539,165 1,497,755
Total interest-bearing transaction and saving accounts 4,022,909 3,935,630
Certificates of deposit:
Certificates of deposit less than or equal to $250,000 1,048,138 884,403
Certificates of deposit greater than $250,000 158,103 160,930
Total certificates of deposit(1) 1,206,241 1,045,333
Total deposits $8,483,731 $ 8,121,414
Included in total deposits:
Public fund transaction and savings accounts $209,835 $ 221,765
Public fund interest-bearing certificates 30,496 25,650
Total public deposits $240,331 $ 247,415
Total brokered deposits $250,001 $ 34,074

(1) Certificates of deposit include $162,000 and $426,000 of acquisition premiums at June 30, 2017 and December 31,
2016, respectively.

At June 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016, the Company had certificates of deposit of $161.6 million and $165.4
million, respectively, that were equal to or greater than $250,000.

Scheduled maturities and weighted average interest rates of certificate accounts at June 30, 2017 are as follows
(dollars in thousands):

June 30, 2017

Amount
Weighted
Average
Rate

Maturing in one year or less $921,771 0.51 %
Maturing after one year through two years 122,602 0.73
Maturing after two years through three years 111,147 1.18
Maturing after three years through four years 24,685 1.09
Maturing after four years through five years 23,117 1.17
Maturing after five years 2,919 1.08
Total certificates of deposit $1,206,241 0.62 %
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Note 8:  FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The following table presents estimated fair values of the Company’s financial instruments as of June 30, 2017 and
December 31, 2016, whether or not measured at fair value in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition (in
thousands):

June 30, 2017 December 31, 2016

Level CarryingValue

Estimated
Fair
Value

Carrying
Value

Estimated
Fair
Value

Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents 1 $273,548 $273,548 $247,719 $247,719
Securities—trading 2,3 24,950 24,950 24,568 24,568
Securities—available-for-sale 2 1,290,159 1,290,159 800,917 800,917
Securities—held-to-maturity 2,3 268,050 272,089 267,873 270,528
Loans held for sale 2 66,164 66,345 246,353 246,815
Loans receivable 3 7,551,563 7,438,278 7,451,148 7,337,608
FHLB stock 3 12,334 12,334 12,506 12,506
Bank-owned life insurance 1 160,609 160,609 158,936 158,936
Mortgage servicing rights 3 14,985 18,349 15,249 16,740
Derivatives:
Interest rate swaps 2 7,827 7,827 8,330 8,330
Interest rate lock and forward sales commitments 2 574 574 482 482
Liabilities:
Demand, interest checking and money market accounts 2 5,746,973 5,746,973 5,552,690 5,552,690
Regular savings 2 1,530,517 1,530,517 1,523,391 1,523,391
Certificates of deposit 2 1,206,241 1,188,453 1,045,333 1,028,866
FHLB advances 2 50,212 50,212 54,216 54,216
Other borrowings 2 116,455 116,455 105,685 105,685
Junior subordinated debentures 3 96,852 96,852 95,200 95,200
Derivatives:
Interest rate swaps 2 7,827 7,827 8,330 8,330
Interest rate lock and forward sales commitments 2 14 14 289 289

The Company measures and discloses certain assets and liabilities at fair value. Fair value is defined as the price that
would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at
the measurement date (that is, not a forced liquidation or distressed sale). GAAP establishes a consistent framework
for measuring fair value and disclosure requirements about fair value measurements. Among other things, the
accounting standard requires the reporting entity to maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of
unobservable inputs when measuring fair value. Observable inputs reflect market data obtained from independent
sources, while unobservable inputs reflect the Company’s estimates for market assumptions. These two types of inputs
create the following fair value hierarchy:

•

Level 1 – Quoted prices in active markets for identical instruments. An active market is a market in which transactions
occur with sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis. A quoted price in an
active market provides the most reliable evidence of fair value and shall be used to measure fair value whenever
available.

•
Level 2 – Observable inputs other than Level 1 including quoted prices in active markets for similar instruments,
quoted prices in less active markets for identical or similar instruments, or other observable inputs that can be
corroborated by observable market data.
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•

Level 3 – Unobservable inputs supported by little or no market activity for financial instruments whose value is
determined using pricing models, discounted cash flow methodologies, or similar techniques, as well as instruments
for which the determination of fair value requires significant management judgment or estimation; also includes
observable inputs from non-binding single dealer quotes not corroborated by observable market data.

The estimated fair value amounts of financial instruments have been determined by the Company using available
market information and appropriate valuation methodologies. However, considerable judgment is required to interpret
data to develop the estimates of fair value. Accordingly, the estimates presented herein are not necessarily indicative
of the amounts the Company could realize at a future date. The use of different market assumptions and/or estimation
methodologies may have a material effect on the estimated fair value amounts. In addition, reasonable comparability
between financial institutions may not be likely due to the wide range of permitted valuation techniques and numerous
estimates that must be made given the absence of active secondary markets for certain financial instruments. This lack
of uniform valuation methodologies also introduces a greater degree of subjectivity to these estimated fair values.
Transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy are deemed to occur at the end of the reporting period.
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Items Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis:

The following tables present financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis and the level
within the fair value hierarchy of the fair value measurements for those assets and liabilities as of June 30, 2017 and
December 31, 2016 (in thousands):

June 30, 2017
Level
1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Assets:
Securities—trading
U.S. Government and agency obligations $—$1,315 $— $1,315
Municipal bonds —333 — 333
Corporate Bonds (Trust Preferred Securities) —— 21,568 21,568
Mortgage-backed or related securities —1,599 — 1,599
Equity securities —135 — 135

—3,382 21,568 24,950
Securities—available-for-sale
U.S. Government and agency obligations —89,994 — 89,994
Municipal bonds —113,517 — 113,517
Corporate bonds —10,447 — 10,447
Mortgage-backed or related securities —1,041,946 — 1,041,946
Asset-backed securities —28,706 — 28,706
Equity securities —5,549 — 5,549

—1,290,159 — 1,290,159

Loans held for sale —57,832 — 57,832

Derivatives
Interest rate swaps —7,827 — 7,827
Interest rate lock and forward sales commitments —574 — 574

$—$1,359,774 $21,568 $1,381,342

Liabilities:
Advances from FHLB $—$50,212 $— $50,212
Junior subordinated debentures, net of unamortized deferred issuance costs —— 96,852 96,852
Derivatives
Interest rate swaps —7,827 — 7,827
Interest rate lock and forward sales commitments —14 — 14

$—$58,053 $96,852 $154,905
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December 31, 2016
Level
1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Assets:
Securities—trading
U.S. Government and agency obligations $—$1,326 $— $1,326
Municipal bonds —335 — 335
Corporate Bonds (Trust Preferred Securities) —— 21,143 21,143
Mortgage-backed securities —1,641 — 1,641
Equity securities —123 — 123

—3,425 21,143 24,568
Securities—available-for-sale
U.S. Government and agency obligations —56,978 — 56,978
Municipal bonds —109,853 — 109,853
Corporate bonds —10,283 — 10,283
Mortgage-backed securities —594,712 — 594,712
Asset-backed securities —28,993 — 28,993
Equity securities —98 — 98

—800,917 — 800,917

Loans held for sale —9,600 — 9,600

Derivatives
Interest rate swaps —8,330 — 8,330
Interest rate lock and forward sales commitments —482 — 482

$—$822,754 $21,143 $843,897

Liabilities:
Advances from FHLB $—$54,216 $— $54,216
Junior subordinated debentures, net of unamortized deferred issuance costs —— 95,200 95,200
Derivatives
Interest rate swaps —8,330 — 8,330
Interest rate lock and forward sales commitments —289 — 289

$—$62,835 $95,200 $158,035

The following methods were used to estimate the fair value of each class of financial instruments above:

Cash and Cash Equivalents:  The carrying amount of these items is a reasonable estimate of their fair value.

Securities:  The estimated fair values of investment securities and mortgaged-backed securities are priced using
current active market quotes, if available, which are considered Level 1 measurements.  For most of the portfolio,
matrix pricing based on the securities’ relationship to other benchmark quoted prices is used to establish the fair
value.  These measurements are considered Level 2.  Due to the continued limited activity in the trust preferred
markets that have limited the observability of market spreads for some of the Company’s Trust Preferred Securities
(TPS) securities, management has classified these securities as a Level 3 fair value measure. Management periodically
reviews the pricing information received from third-party pricing services and tests those prices against other sources
to validate the reported fair values.

Loans Held for Sale:  Fair values for residential mortgage loans held for sale are determined by comparing actual loan
rates to current secondary market prices for similar loans. Fair values for multifamily loans held for sale are calculated
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based on discounted cash flows using as a discount rate a combination of market spreads for similar loan types added
to selected index rates.

Loans Receivable: Fair values are estimated first by stratifying the portfolios of loans with similar financial
characteristics.  Loans are segregated by type such as multifamily real estate, residential mortgage, nonresidential
mortgage, commercial/agricultural, consumer and other.  Each loan category is further segmented into fixed- and
adjustable-rate interest terms. A preliminary estimate of fair value is then calculated based on discounted cash flows
using as a discount rate the current rate offered on similar products, plus an adjustment for liquidity to reflect the
non-homogeneous nature of the loans.  The preliminary estimate is then further reduced by the amount of the
allowance for loan losses to arrive at a final estimate of fair value. Fair value for impaired loans is also based on recent
appraisals or estimated cash flows discounted using rates commensurate with risk associated with the estimated cash
flows.  Assumptions regarding credit risk, cash flows and discount rates are judgmentally determined using available
market information and specific borrower information.
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FHLB Stock:  The fair value is based upon the redemption value of the stock which equates to its carrying value.

Bank-Owned Life Insurance:  The fair value of BOLI policies owned is based on the various insurance contracts' cash
surrender value.

Mortgage Servicing Rights:  Fair values are estimated based on an independent dealer analysis of discounted cash
flows.  The evaluation utilizes assumptions market participants would use in determining fair value including
prepayment speeds, delinquency and foreclosure rates, the discount rate, servicing costs, and the timing of cash flows. 
The mortgage servicing portfolio is stratified by loan type and fair value estimates are adjusted up or down based on
the serviced loan interest rates versus current rates on new loan originations since the most recent independent
analysis.

Deposits: The carrying amount of deposits with no stated maturity, such as savings and checking accounts, is a
reasonable estimate of their fair value.  The market value of certificates of deposit is based upon the discounted value
of contractual cash flows.  The discount rate is determined using current market rates on comparable instruments.

FHLB Advances:  Fair valuations for Banner’s FHLB advances are estimated using fair market values provided by the
lender, the FHLB of Des Moines.  The FHLB of Des Moines prices advances by discounting the future contractual
cash flows for individual advances, using its current cost of funds curve to provide the discount rate.

Junior Subordinated Debentures:  The fair value of junior subordinated debentures is estimated using a discounted
cash flow approach. The significant inputs included in the estimation of fair value are the credit risk adjusted spread
and three month LIBOR. The credit risk adjusted spread represents the nonperformance risk of the liability. The
Company utilizes an external valuation firm to assist management in validating the reasonableness of the credit risk
adjusted spread used to determine the fair value. The junior subordinated debentures are carried at fair value which
represents the estimated amount that would be paid to transfer these liabilities in an orderly transaction amongst
market participants. Due to credit concerns in the capital markets and inactivity in the trust preferred markets that have
limited the observability of market spreads, management has classified this as a Level 3 fair value measure.

Other Borrowings: Other borrowings include securities sold under agreements to repurchase and occasionally federal
funds purchased and their carrying amount is considered a reasonable approximation of their fair value.

Derivatives:  Derivatives include interest rate swap agreements, interest rate lock commitments to originate loans held
for sale and forward sales contracts to sell loans and securities related to mortgage banking activities. Fair values for
these instruments, which generally change as a result of changes in the level of market interest rates, are estimated
based on dealer quotes and secondary market sources.

Off-Balance-Sheet Items:  Off-balance-sheet financial instruments include unfunded commitments to extend credit,
including standby letters of credit, and commitments to purchase investment securities. The fair value of these
instruments is not considered to be material.

Limitations:  The fair value estimates presented herein are based on pertinent information available to management as
of June 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016.  The factors used in the fair values estimates are subject to change
subsequent to the dates the fair value estimates are completed, therefore, current estimates of fair value may differ
significantly from the amounts presented herein.

Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value Using Significant Unobservable Inputs (Level 3):

The following table provides a description of the valuation technique, unobservable inputs, and qualitative
information about the unobservable inputs for certain of the Company's assets and liabilities classified as Level 3 and
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measured at fair value on a recurring and non-recurring basis at June 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016:
Weighted Average Rate / Range

Financial Instruments Valuation Techniques Unobservable Inputs June 30, 2017 December
31, 2016

Corporate Bonds (TPS
securities)

Discounted cash
flows Discount rate 6.30 % 6.00 %

Junior subordinated debentures Discounted cash
flows Discount rate 6.30 % 6.00 %

Impaired loans Collateral Valuations Discount to appraised
value 9.5% to 25% n/a

REO Appraisals Discount to appraised
value 17.4% to 31.0% 0% to 45%

TPS securities : Management believes that the credit risk-adjusted spread used to develop the discount rate utilized in
the fair value measurement of TPS securities is indicative of the risk premium a willing market participant would
require under current market conditions for instruments with similar contractual rates and terms and conditions and
issuers with similar credit risk profiles and with similar expected probability of default. Management attributes the
change in fair value of these instruments, compared to their par value, primarily to perceived general market
adjustments to the risk premiums for these types of assets subsequent to their issuance.

Junior subordinated debentures: Similar to the TPS securities discussed above, management believes that the credit
risk-adjusted spread utilized in the fair value measurement of the junior subordinated debentures is indicative of the
risk premium a willing market participant would require under current market conditions for an issuer with Banner's
credit risk profile. Management attributes the change in fair value of the junior subordinated debentures, compared to
their par value, primarily to perceived general market adjustments to the risk premiums for these types
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of liabilities subsequent to their issuance. Future contractions in the risk adjusted spread relative to the spread
currently utilized to measure the Company's junior subordinated debentures at fair value as of June 30, 2017, or the
passage of time, will result in negative fair value adjustments. At June 30, 2017, the discount rate utilized was based
on a credit spread of 500 basis points and three-month LIBOR of 130 basis points.

The following tables provide a reconciliation of the assets and liabilities measured at fair value using significant
unobservable inputs (Level 3) on a recurring basis during the three and six months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 (in
thousands):

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, 2017 June 30, 2017

Level 3 Fair Value Inputs Level 3 Fair Value
Inputs

TPS
Securities

Borrowings—Junior
Subordinated
Debentures

TPS
Securities

Borrowings—
Junior
Subordinated
Debentures

Beginning balance $21,361 $ 96,040 $21,143 $ 95,200
Total gains or losses recognized
Assets gains 207 — 425 —
Liabilities losses — 812 — 1,652
Ending balance at June 30, 2017 $21,568 $ 96,852 $21,568 $ 96,852

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, 2016 June 30, 2016

Level 3 Fair Value Inputs Level 3 Fair Value
Inputs

TPS
Securities

Borrowings—Junior
Subordinated
Debentures

TPS and
TRUP
CDOs

Borrowings—
Junior
Subordinated
Debentures

Beginning balance $20,543 $ 92,879 $18,699 $ 92,480
Total gains or losses recognized
Assets gains 102 — 221 —
Liabilities losses — 419 — 818
Purchases, issuances and settlements, including acquisitions — — 1,725 —
Ending balance at June 30, 2016 $20,645 $ 93,298 $20,645 $ 93,298

The Company has elected to continue to recognize the interest income and dividends from the securities reclassified to
fair value as a component of interest income as was done in prior years when they were classified as
available-for-sale.  Interest expense related to the FHLB advances and junior subordinated debentures continues to be
measured based on contractual interest rates and reported in interest expense.  The change in fair market value of these
financial instruments has been recorded as a component of non-interest income.

Items Measured at Fair Value on a Non-recurring Basis:

The following tables present financial assets measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis and the level within the
fair value hierarchy of the fair value measurements for those assets as of June 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016 (in
thousands):

June 30, 2017
Total

Edgar Filing: BANNER CORP - Form 10-Q

56



Level
1
Level
2

Level
3

Impaired loans $—$ —$ 926 $ 926
REO —— 2,427 2,427

December 31, 2016
Level
1
Level
2

Level
3 Total

REO —— 11,081 11,081
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The following table presents the losses resulting from non-recurring fair value adjustments for the three and six
months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 (in thousands):

Three months
ended June 30,

Six months
ended June 30,

2017 2016 2017 2016
Impaired loans $(475) $(50 ) $(475) $(66 )
REO (206 ) (226 ) (256 ) (431 )
Total loss from non-recurring measurements $(681) $(276) $(731) $(497)

Impaired loans: Impaired loans are measured based on the present value of expected future cash flows discounted at
the loan's effective interest rate or, as a practical expedient, at the loan's observable market price or the fair value of
collateral if the loan is collateral dependent. If this practical expedient is used, the impaired loans are considered to be
held at fair value. Subsequent changes in the value of impaired loans are included within the provision for loan losses
in the same manner in which impairment initially was recognized or as a reduction in the provision that would
otherwise be reported. Impaired loans are periodically evaluated to determine if valuation adjustments, or partial
write-downs, should be recorded. The need for valuation adjustments arises when observable market prices or current
appraised values of collateral indicate a shortfall in collateral value compared to current carrying values of the related
loan. If the Company determines that the value of the impaired loan is less than the carrying value of the loan, the
Company either establishes an impairment reserve as a specific component of the allowance for loan losses or charges
off the impaired amount. These valuation adjustments are considered non-recurring fair value adjustments. The
remaining impaired loans are evaluated for reserve needs in homogenous pools within the Company’s methodology for
assessing the adequacy of the allowance for loan losses.

REO: The Company records REO (acquired through a lending relationship) at fair value on a non-recurring basis. Fair
value adjustments on REO are based on updated real estate appraisals which are based on current market conditions.
All REO properties are recorded at the lower of the estimated fair value of the real estate, less expected selling costs,
or the carrying amount of the defaulted loans. From time to time, non-recurring fair value adjustments to REO are
recorded to reflect partial write-downs based on an observable market price or current appraised value of property.
Banner considers any valuation inputs related to REO to be Level 3 inputs. The individual carrying values of these
assets are reviewed for impairment at least annually and any additional impairment charges are expensed to
operations.

Note 9:  INCOME TAXES AND DEFERRED TAXES

The Company files a consolidated income tax return including all of its wholly-owned subsidiaries on a calendar year
basis. Income taxes are accounted for using the asset and liability method. Under this method, a deferred tax asset or
liability is determined based on the enacted tax rates which will be in effect when the differences between the
financial statement carrying amounts and tax basis of existing assets and liabilities are expected to be reported in the
Company’s income tax returns. The effect on deferred taxes of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the
period of change. A valuation allowance is recognized as a reduction to deferred tax assets when management
determines it is more likely than not that deferred tax assets will not be available to offset future income tax liabilities.

Accounting standards for income taxes prescribe a recognition threshold and measurement process for financial
statement recognition and measurement of uncertain tax positions taken or expected to be taken in a tax return, and
also provide guidance on the de-recognition of previously recorded benefits and their classification, as well as the
proper recording of interest and penalties, accounting in interim periods, disclosures and transition. The Company
periodically reviews its income tax positions based on tax laws and regulations and financial reporting considerations,
and records adjustments as appropriate. This review takes into consideration the status of current taxing authorities’
examinations of the Company’s tax returns, recent positions taken by the taxing authorities on similar transactions, if
any, and the overall tax environment.
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As of June 30, 2017, the Company had an insignificant amount of unrecognized tax benefits for uncertain tax
positions, none of which would materially affect the effective tax rate if recognized. The Company does not anticipate
that the amount of unrecognized tax benefits will significantly increase or decrease in the next twelve months. The
Company’s policy is to recognize interest and penalties on unrecognized tax benefits in the income tax expense. The
Company files consolidated income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction and in the Oregon, California, Utah and
Idaho state jurisdictions.

Tax credit investments: The Company invests in low income housing tax credit funds that are designed to generate a
return primarily through the realization of federal tax credits. The Company accounts for these investments by
amortizing the cost of tax credit investments over the life of the investment using a proportional amortization method
and tax credit investment amortization expense is a component of the provision for income taxes.

The following table presents the balances of the Company’s tax credit investments and related unfunded commitments
at June 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016 (in thousands):

June 30,
2017

December 31,
2016

Tax credit investments $ 4,257 $ 4,654
Unfunded commitments—tax credit investments$ 638 $ 665
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The following table presents other information related to the Company's tax credit investments for the three and six
months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 (in thousands):

Three
Months
Ended
June 30,

Six Months
Ended
June 30,

2017 2016 2017 2016
Tax credits and other tax benefits recognized $285 $284 $570 $568
Tax credit amortization expense included in provision for income taxes $199 $168 398 336

Note 10:  CALCULATION OF WEIGHTED AVERAGE SHARES OUTSTANDING FOR EARNINGS PER
SHARE (EPS)

The following table reconciles basic to diluted weighted shares outstanding used to calculate earnings per share data
(in thousands, except shares and per share data):

Three Months
Ended
June 30,

Six Months
Ended
June 30,

2017 2016 2017 2016
Net income $25,454 $20,957 $49,247 $38,731

Basic weighted average shares outstanding 32,982,126
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